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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

CASE NO. 0:19-61308-Civ-ALTMAN/Hunt 
 

625 FUSION, LLC d/b/a 
RED DOOR ASIAN BISTRO, 
ANTONIO ASTA, and ZHI YU LIU, 
 Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
CITY OF FORT LAUDERDALE and 
ROBERT GONZALEZ, 
 Defendants. 
      / 
 

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR 
JURY TRIAL 

 
Plaintiffs 625 Fusion, LLC d/b/a Red Door Asian Bistro (“Red 

Door”), Antonio Asta (“Asta”), and Zhi Yu Liu (“Liu”) Red Door, Asta and 

Liu are referred to as the “Plaintiffs”) sue the City of Fort Lauderdale 

(“City”) and Robert Gonzalez in his individual capacity (“Gonzalez”) for 

federal civil rights violations, stating the following: 

NATURE OF ACTION AND JURISDICTION 

1. This is an action for damages pursuant to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 

and 1988 and the United States Constitution against Defendants for 

committing acts under color of state law with the intent and for the 
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purpose of depriving Plaintiffs of rights secured under the Constitution 

and laws of the United States. 

2. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 and 

28 U.S.C. § 1343 in that this is an action to redress violations of Plaintiffs’ 

federally protected constitutional rights. 

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b)1 and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)2 as all events giving rise to the causes 

of action occurred in this judicial district and the Defendants are in the 

Southern District of Florida.  

4. All conditions precedent to this action occurred, have been 

performed, were waived, or are otherwise excused. Plaintiffs filed a 

statutory pre-suit notice under Section 768, Florida Statutes and have 

complied with all pre-suit prerequisites.  

5. Plaintiffs retained the undersigned lawyers to represent their 

interests in prosecuting this action and said law firms are entitled to 

their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs incurred in connection with 

same.
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PARTIES 
 

6. Plaintiff Red Door is sui juris and a corporation situated in 

Broward County, Florida located at 625 East Las Olas Boulevard, Fort 

Lauderdale, Florida, in the Southern District of Florida.  

7. Plaintiffs Asta and Liu are the owners of the Red Door and 

are otherwise sui juris. They have individual interest in the Red Door 

restaurant and its operations. 

8. Plaintiff Liu is a native of China and is of Asian heritage, 

nationality, and culture. He was educated in China before emigrating to 

the United States. 

9. Defendant City of Fort Lauderdale is a municipal corporation 

within Broward County, Florida in the Southern District of Florida. 

10. Defendant Gonzalez is the City’s Chief Mechanical Inspector, 

is otherwise sui juris, and is in the Southern District of Florida.  

11. At all times material, the individuals associated with the City 

as described fully herein, including but not limited to Defendant 

Gonzalez, were employees and public officials of the City and/or were 

acting as the City’s agent and representative, and acted under color of 

state and local law. 
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12. As a result of the subject incidents, Plaintiffs experienced 

severe pain and suffering including mental anguish, mental and 

emotional suffering, embarrassment, shame, and humiliation, and 

suffered significant business damages including loss of earnings and 

profits and having incurred unnecessary expenses, and other damages 

including but not limited to damages to their constitutional rights and 

property.

FACTS 

A. Plaintiffs’ Efforts to Build Out the Red Door 
Restaurant. 

13. Plaintiffs’ extensive and lawful efforts to build and open their 

Red Door restaurant in the City of Fort Lauderdale were obstructed and 

delayed by the evident bias and racism directed against Liu and by 

extension to Asta and the Red Door by Defendant Gonzalez and the City 

of Fort Lauderdale. Gonzalez directed racial and cultural slurs against 

Liu, took impermissible and unwarranted official action against the 

Plaintiffs because of his racial animus toward Liu, and attempted to use 

his official position to stymie, obstruct, and delay the opening of the Red 

Door restaurant.  

14. The owners of Red Door invested more than $1 million before 
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opening their first Asian Fusion Restaurant in Broward County after 

having successfully operated several highly successful restaurants in the 

Hamptons in Long Island and elsewhere in New York. The money 

investment and the time expended in constructing and opening the 

restaurant included funds belonging to the Red Door and individual 

contributions by the individual Plaintiffs Asta and Liu.  

15. The owners of Red Door worked cooperatively with the City of 

Fort Lauderdale to enhance the Las Olas Boulevard retail area with new 

and exciting upscale establishments that contribute to the overall pride 

and quality of life of the City. The owners of the Red Door discussed with 

the City representatives its business plan to open and operate a series of 

upscale restaurants in Fort Lauderdale and Broward County. 

16. The owners utilized their successful business model to 

establish and open the Red Door on Las Olas Boulevard, using the same 

successful architectural design and interiors that had been favorably 

received through their half dozen other successful restaurants 

throughout New York, including one operating locally at the Trump 

Tower in Sunny Isles Beach, Florida, in Miami-Dade County, within the 

Southern District of Florida. 
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17. Plaintiffs used and installed the same type of kitchen 

equipment and used the same construction techniques as with their other 

restaurants, all of which were designed and approved by accomplished 

and licensed engineers and architects.  

B. Chief Mechanical Inspector Gonzalez Obstructs 
Ordinary Build-Out. 

18. Despite the Plaintiffs’ best efforts, the original opening date 

for the Red Door was intentionally and unnecessarily delayed for several 

months due to insidious and illegal violations of the Plaintiffs’ rights. The 

Plaintiffs’ best efforts became a nightmare when they were subjected to 

unfair, discriminatory, and illegal conduct on the part of the Defendants. 

This was in part because Gonzalez, a senior mechanical inspector for the 

City of Fort Lauderdale Building Department, purposely and 

intentionally took adverse action against the Plaintiffs to stop and delay 

the approval and opening of the Red Door.  

19. Early in the construction project, Gonzalez came to the Red 

Door location and announced: I am in charge here. We do things different 

from what you get away with in New York. I know all about how these 

Chinese guys do things. No chink from New York is going to tell me how 

to do my business.  
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20. Throughout his interactions with the Plaintiffs, Gonzalez 

regularly expressed his disdain for Liu and Asians in general, spouting 

both direct and subtle racist comments. Gonzalez often adopted a 

mocking pseudo-Chinese manner, and on one occasion even slanted his 

eyes when referring to Liu. Included among his distasteful remarks about 

Liu and the Plaintiffs are these: (1) What does this chink think he is doing 

here? (2) There is a reason we don’t have many chinks trying to open. (3) 

Las Olas is not China Town. (4) Does that Chinaman believes he knows 

more than me? (5) I don’t know what kind of business that guy does, but 

we do things different in America. (6) How long has he even been here? 

(7) He should go back to Hong Kong where he belongs. (8) This junk 

(referring to the kitchen hoods) might pass in China, but this is not a 

Third World country. (9) When Liu questioned Gonzalez on an issue, 

Gonzalez exclaimed to Asta, doesn’t he even understand English? (10) 

Where is this guy from? (11) I love working with these Chinese. They 

think money buys everything. But he’s got another thing coming. 

21. Gonzalez routinely attempted to intimidate the Plaintiffs by 

making it clear it was his job to “call the shots.” Gonzalez explained to 

Asta that he was the decisionmaker in his department and that what he 
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says goes. Gonzalez claimed that the Chief Building Officer has 

“assigned” decisions to him, and that “no one overruled me” when it came 

to mechanical permits.  

22. Gonzalez was the final decision maker and policy maker for 

the City about mechanical permitting issues under the Building Code.  

23. Gonzalez intimidated and bullied the Plaintiffs by his 

comments that any challenge to his actions and decisions would be met 

with reprisals.  

C. Gonzalez Illegally Issues Red Flag Notice. 

24. Gonzalez, for reasons entirely inconsistent with the lawful 

and proper application of the building codes and laws governing the City 

of Fort Lauderdale, issued a “red flag” notice on April 30, 2018 on a piece 

of equipment known as a “kitchen hood,” even though he had no lawful 

or factual basis to support issuance of the notice and provided no due 

process to the Plaintiffs. Gonzalez belatedly issued the red flag one year 

after any question about the kitchen equipment should have been 

addressed in a timely manner. By that time, the Plaintiffs had invested 

significant money into the construction of their establishment and had 

continued building out the space based on the installation of the kitchen 
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hood. Gonzalez’s red flag incorrectly stated that the kitchen hood was not 

properly certified, despite having good and reliable all evidence to the 

contrary. 

25. Gonzalez issued the red flag after knowing and seeing 

documentation that the subject kitchen equipment was stamped as being 

certified for its intended purpose by the equipment manufacturer, a well-

known and established company in the industry. Gonzalez had full 

knowledge there was no basis in law or fact for issuance of said red flag.  

26. Gonzalez and the City had ready access to available 

documentation that disclosed the kitchen product was appropriate for the 

Red Door’s usage. 

27. When the Plaintiffs objected to Gonzalez’s red tagging the 

kitchen hood, Gonzalez emphatically explained his rules: what Gonzalez 

decided to do was the law, the policy, and the process for the City if the 

Plaintiffs ever expected to do business in Fort Lauderdale. There was no 

right to appeal him or seek another person’s assistance because he was 

the law. 

D. Gonzalez Further Delayed the Project through Other 
Baseless Claims. 
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28. In addition to red tagging the kitchen hood, Gonzalez also 

delayed the project by falsely ordering the Plaintiffs to replace the 

hibachi tables because the Plaintiffs were not using the correct hoods 

above them. Gonzalez knew, however, that the hibachi tables were state-

of-the-art designs that did not require hoods above them. Plaintiffs had 

installed these same tables in their other restaurants. Yet, Gonzalez used 

this ruse to continue to harass the Plaintiffs.  

E. Plaintiffs Are Forced to Incur Needless Expense and 
Time Delays in Rebutting Gonzalez’s False 
Accusations. 

29. Based on Gonzalez’s red flag actions against the Red Door, the 

Plaintiffs were needlessly forced to challenge Gonzalez’s actions by 

obtaining letters from the manufacturer of the kitchen appliance that 

caused additional and otherwise unnecessary expense and delays. 

Plaintiffs were also obligated to spend additional time and money to 

obtain documentation from the manufacturer of the insulation of the 

hood, including obtaining confidential and privileged photographs and 

drawings from the actual safety tests done on the hood and the hood’s 

apparatus. This additional effort on the part of the Plaintiffs caused by 

the Defendants’ misconduct caused needless additional expense to the 
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Plaintiffs and substantially delayed completion of the Red Door 

construction and opening. 

30. Prompted by the Plaintiffs’ efforts, the equipment 

manufacturer Owens Corning ultimately disclosed that Gonzalez 

intentionally misled and provided false information to the manufacturer 

of the insulation of the hood in order to procure a letter falsely suggesting 

that there was something wrong – when Gonzalez and the City officials 

knew such was not the case.  

31. Gonzalez interfered with the Plaintiffs’ business relationship 

with the kitchen equipment manufacturer when he attempted to obtain 

a letter falsely indicating the kitchen hood was not proper for usage in 

the Red Door.  

F. Gonzalez and the City Knew of False Allegations 
Against Plaintiffs. 

32. Gonzalez and the City knew there was never anything wrong 

with the hood or any of the kitchen equipment, yet the owners of the Red 

Door were forced to go through needless delays and an abusive process 

by investigating and responding to the false complaints and actions of 

Gonzalez, obtaining letters and hiring experts to prove the kitchen hood 

that was already in wide usage, was in fact the correct piece of 
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equipment, and delaying completion of the restaurant’s construction due 

to Gonzalez’s actions. Both the City, Gonzalez, and other City staff were 

aware Gonzalez’s accusations were false and that he was targeting the 

Plaintiffs’ for impermissible reasons.  

33. The City’s Building Official had to visit the Red Door 

personally, while another inspector – a different inspector who does 

national training – looked at the kitchen hood device and quickly 

concluded that there were absolutely no issues. So, the red flag was 

withdrawn after having been improperly issued by Gonzalez on behalf of 

the City. 

34. On that same day, the City Building Official, other City safety 

officials, and the City mechanical inspector, a different inspector who 

does national training, signed off on the remainder of the permits for the 

Red Door. They also congratulated the owners on the opening of the new 

restaurant and wished them success in serving food to customers that 

evening. The Chief Building Official even expressed his apologies for 

Gonzalez’s misbehavior. 

G. Plaintiffs Verify that All Permits Issued.  

35. Plaintiffs then visited City Hall, verified that all the permits 
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were completed, and received the requisite occupational license from the 

City to open shortly thereafter, followed by receipt of the liquor license. 

36. This should have had a happy ending at this juncture, despite 

the hundreds of thousands of additional and unnecessary dollars 

expended as a result of the intentional discrimination and due process 

violations by the Chief Mechanical Inspector for the City (Gonzalez), and 

despite the substantial loss of revenue incurred by the needless delays. 

H. Gonzalez Persists in Harmful Actions Directed Against 
Plaintiffs.  

37. When one of the owners (Asta) went to City Hall to obtain the 

Occupational License, Gonzalez went up to him and stated in a 

threatening manner and tone: You win. You win. You think you win. We 

will see how long you stay open. Let me be clear – you are not going to 

win. 

38. At the same time, Gonzalez persisted in his comments of an 

anti-racial bias and animus against Liu and the Plaintiffs. Gonzalez 

smirked and stated in an apparent attempt to mimic and mock a Chinese 

accent: Your boss should go back to China Town. We don’t need chinks 

here. 

39. Gonzalez’s evident racial bias and repeated anti-Asian 
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comments intimidated the Plaintiffs, who understood that Gonzalez was 

using his official position to cause problems and additional work for the 

Plaintiffs.  

40. Plaintiff Liu, as a native Chinese, understood Gonzalez’s 

remarks, taunts, and attitude toward him to be evidence of his hostility 

toward and discrimination against the Plaintiffs in overseeing the 

construction and permitting process at the Red Door.  

41. Gonzalez exercised policy-making authority within the City 

building department and in the issuance of permits and the conduct of 

investigations.  

42. Gonzalez expressed displeasure against the Plaintiffs upon 

learning that they had reached out to the kitchen equipment 

manufacturer.  

43. Gonzalez, as the City’s Chief Mechanical Inspector, 

threatened the Plaintiffs and made clear that because they had 

embarrassed him, he intended to do everything possible to create more 

problems for the Plaintiffs. Gonzalez made clear that his negative 

attitudes toward Asians generally motivated his ill-will and misuse of 

official action against the Plaintiffs. 
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I. Gonzalez Continued His Tirade Against the Plaintiffs 
After the Red Door Opened.  

44. Even after the Red Door opened for business, Gonzalez 

continued his reign of terror against the Plaintiffs.  

45. Gonzalez, making good on his threats against the Plaintiffs, 

went into the City’s computer system after the Red Door received its 

license, and cancelled the mechanical approval received by the Plaintiffs. 

This was done without notice to the Plaintiffs or an opportunity to be 

heard. It was done in violation of long-established City practices and 

procedures in a manner that violated the Plaintiffs’ rights to due process, 

equal protection, and fundamental fairness. and Equal Protection.  

46. The Red Door and its owners not notified of this cancellation 

by Gonzalez or the City, and only found out when their architect was 

visiting the City for other purposes and heard that Gonzalez was 

bragging that he cancelled an approval for the Red Door.  

47. Gonzalez initiated this cancellation several months after all 

approvals had been given, after all permits had been closed, and after the 

Red Door had opened for business in possession of its occupational license 

and began serving its customers. 

J. Plaintiffs Conduct a Full Inspection at Considerable 
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Expense to Blunt Gonzalez’s False Accusations. 

48. On June 11, 2018, the Red Door’s engineer, architect, and fire 

expert performed a front-to-back inspection of the restaurant and 

property and found that Gonzalez’s new concerns raised on behalf of the 

City were once again baseless and had no legal or factual foundation. 

K. City Ignores Plaintiffs’ Efforts to Resolve Dispute with 
Gonzalez. 

49. On that same date, one of the owners (Asta) of the Red Door 

flew to Fort Lauderdale at great expense and paid his engineer to come 

to a scheduled meeting with Gonzalez and other City building officials 

and staff to address the “new issues.” 

50. When the Plaintiffs arrived, they were rudely informed by the 

City officials that the meeting had been cancelled. They learned that they 

had all wasted their time and money coming to the City-scheduled 

meeting. As they were leaving the City facility, Gonzalez remarked on 

the absence of Lui and made another caustic comment about Lui being 

Chinese. 

51. Plaintiffs’ appearance for the cancelled meeting cost a 

significant expenditure of money and time. 

52. A later meeting with the City was arranged, at which time the 
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owner, the engineer, and others whose participation was needed for the 

meeting re-arranged schedules to attend the City’s rescheduled meeting 

to address any issues the City needed to address. 

53. That rescheduled meeting was also cancelled by the City 

without prior notice. 

54. Every subsequent request to reschedule the meeting and 

address all possible issues being raised by Gonzalez and the City were 

ignored and not acted upon.  

L. Plaintiffs Seek Recusal of Gonzalez. 

55. Plaintiffs requested that Gonzalez, as the City’s Chief 

Mechanical Inspector, be recused and end his involvement in any activity 

involving the Plaintiffs for the following reasons: 

a. The original denial of the City mechanical inspection 
permit was based on erroneous information provided by 
Gonzalez that he knew to be false. 
 

b. On more than one occasion, Gonzalez indicated the 
Plaintiffs embarrassed him in his official capacity with 
the City.  

c. Gonzales confronted the owners and pledged to do 
whatever he could to create problems to deter the 
Plaintiffs from operating their restaurant. 
 

M. Plaintiffs Were Denied Due Process and Fair 
Consideration by Gonzalez and the City. 
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56. The Plaintiffs invested over $1 million opening the Red Door 

restaurant that they intended to be one of the crown jewels of a 

revitalized Las Olas Boulevard shopping and entertainment district.  

57. At all times, the Plaintiffs made good faith efforts to cooperate 

with the City and even Gonzalez in every respect. Yet, their lives were 

disrupted by the blatant intimidation, threats, and discrimination by 

Gonzalez in his official capacity. The Plaintiffs were repeatedly harassed 

and threatened at the whim of a single City official (Gonzalez) who 

exercised complete and total control over the mechanical permitting 

process in the City, and without his approval the Plaintiffs would be 

unable to open their restaurant. Gonzalez’s tirade of terror and punitive 

action against the Plaintiffs in his official capacity were part of his 

perverse, personal agenda, including his animosity and hostility toward 

Asians.  

58. Gonzalez and other officials did not provide substantive or 

procedural due process, and by their actions and inaction forced the 

Plaintiffs to have their business and personal well-being subject to the 

whim of Gonzalez’s bias and lack of respect for the Plaintiffs’ property 

rights.  
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59. In one encounter, Gonzalez confronted Asta in the middle of 

the street and cursed at him, stating he was “holding the cards” and that 

the Red Door would not open on his watch. 

60. Other City officials advised the Plaintiffs that what Gonzalez 

and the City were doing to them was unprecedented and motivated by 

animosity toward the Plaintiffs. These City officials advised Gonzalez’s 

actions violated the due process rights of the owners. 

61. The City was aware of Gonzalez’s transgressions and bias, 

and by allowing it to continue tacitly approved his actions, knowing or 

reasonably being aware of the harm it caused to business persons like 

the Plaintiffs. " 

62. The initial delays in opening restaurant based on false 

information, the revocation and the withdrawal of a valid permit, and the 

complete denial of due process and equal protection violated the 

constitutionally protected rights of the Plaintiffs and caused direct 

damages. 

63. As a result, the Plaintiffs have been irreparably damaged and 

continue to incur damages that are ongoing in nature. 

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF EQUAL PROTECTION CLAUSE 
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(City and Gonzalez as Defendants) 
 

64. Plaintiffs reincorporate and re-allege Paragraphs 1 through 

63 as if fully set forth. 

65. The City enforced a practice and custom of threatening, 

intimidating, and extorting individuals intending to operate a business 

in the City, including these Plaintiffs, based on race and national origin. 

66. The practice and custom were authorized by City 

policymakers. It was a widespread practice so pervasive, permanent, and 

well-settled to constitute a custom, practice, or usage with the full force 

of law. 

67. Gonzalez was the final decision maker and policy maker for 

the City about mechanical permitting issues under the Building Code.  

68. Gonzalez intimidated and bullied the Plaintiffs by his 

comments that any challenge to his actions and decisions would be met 

with reprisals, such that any attempted appeal, even if same were 

available, would be ineffective and would result in even more adverse 

action taken by Gonzalez.  

69. The conduct outlined here delayed the opening date of the Red 

Door, causing significant damages. 
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70. As a direct and proximate result of the stated acts and 

omissions, Plaintiffs’ Fourteenth Amendment Rights have been violated. 

By their acts and omissions, the City officials, including but not limited 

to Gonzalez, acted under color of state law to deprive Plaintiffs of their 

Fourteenth Amendment rights in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

71. As a direct and proximate result of the violations of Plaintiffs’ 

Fourteenth Amendment rights, Plaintiffs have suffered mental and 

emotional pain, mental anguish, embarrassment, humiliation, 

inconvenience, and other damages. 

72. Asta and Liu were individually damaged, as was the Red 

Door, by the stated conduct. 

73. For these reasons, Plaintiffs demand judgment for 

compensatory and special damages, punitive damages, an award of 

reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, costs pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 1988, and all other relief the Court may deem 

just and proper. 

COUNT II 
DEPRIVATION OF PROPERTY AND RIGHTS WITHOUT DUE 

PROCESS 
(City and Gonzalez as Defendants) 
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74. Plaintiffs reincorporate and re-allege Paragraphs 1 through 

63 as if fully set forth. 

75. The City and Gonzalez enforced a practice and custom of 

threats, intimidation and extortion to deprive individuals, including 

Plaintiffs, of their property and rights, without procedural and 

substantive due process guaranteed under the U.S. Constitution, and in 

violation thereof.  

76. The practice and custom were authorized by policymakers 

within the City. It was a widespread practice so pervasive, permanent, 

and well-settled to constitute a custom, practice, or usage with the force 

of law. The use of threats, intimidation, and extortion was “business as 

usual” within the City and the way things were done. 

77. Plaintiffs had a property right in their business operation. 

78. Plaintiffs were deprived of their property right by the action 

of the Defendants. 

79. The Plaintiffs’ property deprivation rose to the level of a 

denial of due process.  

80. As a direct and proximate result of the acts and omissions, 

Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights have been violated. By their acts and 
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omissions, the City officials, including Gonzalez, acted under the color of 

state law to deprive Plaintiffs of their constitutional rights without due 

process in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

81. Any remedies arguably available to address Plaintiffs’ 

property deprivation were inadequate to address Gonzalez’s error in 

issuance of the red tag notice.  

82. Any corrective action by the City came too late to remedy the 

adverse impact and damages caused by the initial improper and illegal 

action. 

83. Gonzalez was the final decision maker and policy maker for 

the City about mechanical permitting issues under the Building Code.  

84. Gonzalez intimidated and bullied the Plaintiffs by his 

comments that any challenge to his actions and decisions would be met 

with reprisals.  

85. The conduct outlined here delayed the opening date of the Red 

Door, causing significant damages. 

86. As a direct and proximate cause of the violations of Plaintiffs’ 

rights, Plaintiffs have suffered severe mental and emotional pain and 
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suffering, mental anguish, embarrassment, humiliation, and other 

damages. 

87. Asta and Liu were individually damaged, as was the Red 

Door, by the Defendants’ conduct. 

88. For these reasons, Plaintiffs demand judgment for 

compensatory and special damages, punitive damages, an award of 

reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1988, costs pursuant 

to 42 U.S.C. §§ 1920 and 1988, and all other relief the Court may deem 

just and proper. 

COUNT III 
42 U.S.C. §1983 DUE PROCESS VIOLATION 

(Gonzalez as Defendant) 
 

89. Plaintiffs reincorporate and re-allege Paragraphs 1-63 as 

though set forth fully herein. 

90. Plaintiffs have a property right in the continued operation of 

their business as guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution. 

91. The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States 

Constitution prohibits Gonzalez, the City’s Chief Mechanical Inspector, 

from depriving Plaintiffs of liberty or property without due process of law. 
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92. The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth requires, inter alia, 

that Gonzalez provide to the Plaintiffs meaningful due process before 

taking official adverse action against the Red Door. 

93. Gonzalez violated Plaintiffs’ due process rights when he took 

improper and illegal official City actions against the Plaintiffs. 

94. Neither Gonzalez nor the City provided the required due 

process and fairness in their dealings with the Plaintiffs. 

95. The conduct outlined here delayed the opening date of the Red 

Door, causing significant damages. 

96. Asta and Liu were individually damaged, as was the Red 

Door, by the Defendants’ conduct. 

97. For these reasons, Plaintiffs demand judgment against 

Defendant Gonzalez for damages, interests, and the costs of this action, 

including attorneys’ fees and all other relief the Court deems just and 

proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury of all issues triable by jury. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
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 I certify on September 19, 2019, I electronically filed the foregoing 

document with the Clerk of the Court using CM/ECF. I also certify the 

foregoing document is being served this day on all counsel of record either 

via transmission of Notices of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or 

in another authorized manner for those counsel or parties not authorized 

to receive electronically Notices of Electronic Filing. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
MICHAEL A. PIZZI, JR. P.A. 
6625 Miami Lakes Drive East, Suite 313 
Miami Lakes, Florida 33014 
Tel: (305) 777-3800 
Fax: (305) 777-3802 
mpizzi@pizzilaw.com 
 
By: /s/ Michael A. Pizzi, Jr. 
 MICHAEL A. PIZZI, JR. 
 Florida Bar No. 079545 
 
LAW OFFICES OF DOUGLAS J. 
JEFFREY, P.A. 
6625 Miami Lakes Drive East, Suite 365 
Miami Lakes, Florida 33014 
Tel: 305.828.4744 
Fax: 305.828.4718 
dj@jeffreylawfirm.com 
 
By: /s/ Douglas J. Jeffrey 

DOUGLAS J. JEFFREY 
Florida Bar No. 149527 
 

KUEHNE DAVIS LAW, P.A. 
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100 SE 2 Street, Suite 3550 
Miami, Florida 33131 
Tel: 305.789.5989 
Fax: 305.789.5987 
ben.kuehne@kuehnelaw.com 
mdavis@kuehnelaw.com 
efiling@kuehnelaw.com 
 
By: /s/ Benedict P. Kuehne 
 BENEDICT P. KUEHNE 
 Florida Bar No. 233293 
 MICHAEL T. DAVIS 
 Florida Bar No. 63374 
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